1979

the State of Utah v. Walter Preston Boggess, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This appeal is taken from the decision of the Fourth Judicial District Court, J. Robert Bullock, Judge, sitting with a jury, on the 18th day of May, 1978 at Vernal, Utah.

Appellant thereafter obtained permission to file this appeal by writ of habeas corpus granted December 29, 1978 by Ernest Baldwin judge of the criminal division in the Third Judicial District Court, sitting on the law and motion bench.

DISPOSITION IN FOURTH DISTRICT COURT

Appellant was tried before the Court, sitting with a jury, on May 18, 1978. Following instructions, presentation of evidence and argument, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of the charge of manslaughter. The court accepted the verdict and sentenced the appellant to the indeterminate term of 5 years to life in the Utah State Prison.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the decision of the Fourth Judicial District Court reversed and the case remanded for retrial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant was arrested on March 2, 1978 and charged with murder in the second degree, pursuant to UCA 76-5-203, following the death of his wife, Tammy Boggess, from a gunshot wound. An information was thereafter filed likewise charging defendant with murder in the second degree.

Defendant was assigned counsel and entered a plea of not guilty to the charge contained in the information.

Trial on the matter was held on May 18, 1978 before the honorable J. Robert Bullock sitting with a 6 man jury. At the outset, the Court issued certain instructions to the jury concerning the offense of second degree murder and manslaughter as defined in the Utah Code, (p 5, L. 18 to p 6, L. 18)

During the course of the trial Appellant's counsel met with counsel for the State and with Judge Bullock privately in chambers and made record of information which had come to him concerning the improper bias of one of the jurors. Counsel for Appellant then reserved his right to move for mistrial.

At the close of evidence, the court again instructed on murder in the second degree and manslaughter. The jury was sequestered and a short time later returned with a verdict of guilty of manslaughter.

No further action was then taken by counsel for appellant, nor was an appeal filed within 30 days, as required by law.

Appellant was thereafter sentenced to the indeterminate term of 5 years to life in the Utah State Prison.

On December 29, 1978 appellant's petition for Habeas Corpus in Third Judicial District Court was heard. The Petition was granted and the Court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were entered.

This appeal was thereupon commenced.

POINT I

FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY CONCERNING LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES IS REVERSIBLE ERROR

A Defendant in a criminal case is entitled to instructions on all lesser included offenses which are supported by any substantial evidence. This principle is firmly established in the law of Utah.

A lesser included offense is one whose elements are all included in the greater offense charged. This definition is discussed in State v. Woolman, 84 Utah 23, 33 Pac. 2d. 640 (1934)

The only way this matter may be determined is by discovering all of the elements required by the respective sections, comparing them and by a process of inclusion and exclusion, determine those common and those not common, and if the greater offense includes all the legal and factual elements, it may safely be said that the greater includes the lesser, if, however, the lesser offense requires the inclusion of some necessary element or elements in order to cover the completed offense, not so included in the greater offense, then it may be safely said that the lesser is not necessarily included in the greater (emphasis added) 33P.2d at 645

Employing this test to the case at bar, it is clear that the greater offense includes all the legal and factual elements of the lesser. The offense of murder in the second degree necessarily includes all the elements of the lesser offense of negligent homicide. Negligent homicide is an element of the greater offense of murder in the second degree and is clearly a lesser included offense.

A test has been announced by the Court in State v. Lloyd, 568 P. 2d 357 (1977) and State v. Cornish, 568 P. 2d 360 (1977). In these cases the Court looked to the single criminal episode statute of the Utah Code, specifically, Section 76-1-403 (3), (1973) in finding that joyriding is an offense included in auto theft. This section provides:

A defendant may be convicted of an offense included in the offense charged but may not be convicted of both the offense charged and the included offense. An offense is so included when:

- (a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the offense charged; or
- (b) It constitutes an attempt, solicitation, conspiracy, or form of preparation to commit the offense charged or an offense otherwise included therein; or
- (c) It is specifically designated by a statute as a lesser included offense.

Applying the principals of this test to the case at bar, it is clear that the offense of negligence homicide is a lesser included offense of murder in the second degree. The offense of negligence homicide falls within paragraph (a) above. It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the greater offense.

In State v. Dougherty, 550 P. 2d 175 (1976) the Utah Supreme Court discussed the situations where instructions on lesser included offenses are requested and when such instructions must be given as a matter of law. Citing Lisby v. State, 82 Nev. 183, 414 P. 2d 592 (1966) the Utah Court stated:

The court discussed three situations in which the problem of lesser included offenses are frequently encountered. First, where there is evidence which would support a finding of guilt of a lesser offense, or degree; the instruction is mandatory. Second, where the evidence would not support a finding of guilt in the commission of the lesser offense or degree. For example, the defendant denies any complicity in the crime charged, and thus lays no foundation for an intermediate verdict; or where the elements of the offenses differ, and some element essential to the lesser offense is either not proved or shown not to exist. This second situation renders an instruction on a lesser included offense erroneous, because it is not pertinent.

Third, is an intermediate situation. One where the elements of the greater offense include all the elements of the lesser offense; because, by its very nature, the greater offense could not have been committed without defendant having the intent in doing the acts, which constitute the lesser offense. In such a situation instructions on the lesser included offense may be given, because all elements of the lesser offense have been proved. However, such an instruction may properly be refused if the prosecution has met its burden of proof on the greater offense, and there is no evidence tending to reduce the greater offense. The court concluded by stating that if that be any evidence, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which the defendant might be convicted of a lesser included offense, the court must, if requested, give an appropriate instruction. 550 P.2d at 176.

Since the instruction on the lesser included offense either must have been given or was mandatory, pursuant to the authority quoted above, it was error for the trial court not to give it.

Error in failing to give a jury instruction becomes prejudicial if there is a "reasonable likelihood" that if the requested instruction had been given "it may have had some effect upon the verdict rendered" State v. Mitcheson, 560 P. 2d 1120 (Utah 1977). This standard of reasonable likelihood has been further explained in another context

in State v. Eaton, 569 P. 2d 1114 (Utah, 1977), where the Court stated,

Consistent with the nature of criminal proceedings and the protections accorded those accused of crime under our law, including the presumption of innocence and the burden of the state to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, we believe that an appeal, when there is a reasonable doubt as to whether the error below was prejudicial that doubt should be resolved in favor of the defendant. 569 P.2d.

This principle is also discussed in State v. Gillen 23 Utah 2d. 372, 463 Pac. 2d. 811 (1970) in which the defendant's counsel specifically requested an instruction on second degree manslaughter in the trial on an information charging homicide. The court there held that the defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on the lesser included offense if there is any substantial evidence to justify it. The court referred to this principle as being generally accepted in Utah law, citing to State v. Johnson, 112 Utah 130, 185 Pac. 2d. 738 (1947), State v. Newton, 105 Utah 561, 144 Pac. 2d. 290 (1943) and State v. Ferguson, 74 Utah 263, 279 Pac. 55 (1929).

This is in accord with the law of other western jurisdictions which hold that, particularly in cases involving homicide, the Court must instruct on all lesser included offenses which are reasonably supported by the evidence. The holdings in these cases do not turn on the question of whether the defendant has or has not requested the instruction, but place the burden

upon the court. See State v. Booker, 200 Kan, 166, 434 Pac. 2d 80, (1968); Sanchez v. People, 172 Colorado 168, 470 Pac 2d. 857 (1970); State v. Ramos 108 A 36, 492 Pac 2d 697 (1972); State v. Ramirez, 116 A 259, 569 Pac 2d 201 (1977); State v. Olsen, 10 R. App 90, 459 Pac 2d. 445 (1968).

The fact that the jury in this case did return a verdict of manslaughter, having chosen the alternative lesser offense presented to them by the court raises a reasonable inference that the jury might have determined the defendant guilty of negligent homicide had that offense been presented to them for consideration. The Appellant is entitled to have this offense presented to the jury; it's exclusion was prejudicial and therefore warrants reversal of his conviction in this case.

The evidence shows that a gun in the hand of the defendant did in fact fire, injuring defendant's wife, Tammy Boggess and that Tammy Boggess later died as a result of that wound.

The question before the court and the jury was not whether or not these events occurred, but the state of mind of the defendant at the time of the occurrence.

Defendant was charged with criminal homicide in the second degree. The elements of that offense are as follows:

76-5-203. Murder in the second degree.-(1)
criminal homicide constitutes murder in the
second degree if the actor:

(a) Intentionally or knowingly caused the death of another or

(b) Intending to cause serious bodily injury to another, he commits an act clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of another; or

(c) Acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, he recklessly engaged in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another; or

(d) While in the commission, attempted commission, or immediate flight from the commission or attempted commission of aggravated robbery, robbery, rape, forcible sodomy, or aggravated sexual assault, aggravated arson, aggravated burglary, burglary, aggravated kidnapping, or kidnapping, causes the death of another person other than a party.

Manslaughter, on which the jury was also instructed, is defined:

Manslaughter.-(1) Criminal homicide constitutes manslaughter if the actor:

(a) Recklessly causes the death of another; or

(b) Causes the death of another under the influence of extreme mental disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or

(c) Causes the death of another under circumstances where the actor reasonably believes the circumstances provide a moral or legal justification or extenuation for his conduct although the conduct is not legally justifiable or excusable

under the existing circumstances.

Negligent homicide - (1) Criminal homicide constitutes negligent homicide if the actor, acting with criminal negligence, causes the death of another.

The elements of these offense are substantially the same except in the expression of the state of mind of the offender. Reference to the definitions of the terms referring to state of mind of UCA 76-2-103 shows that criminal negligence differs from "recklessness." and both differ from "knowingly" only in degree.

The Utah Code defines "intentionally, or with intent or willfully"; knowingly, or with knowledge"; "recklessly, or maliciously"; and "criminal negligence or criminally negligent"

76-2-103 A person engages in conduct:

(1) Intentionally, or with intent to willfully with respect to the nature of his conduct or to a result of his conduct, when it is his conscious objective or desire to engage in the conduct or cause the result.

(2) Knowingly, or with knowledge, with respect to his conduct or to circumstances surrounding his conduct when he is aware of the nature of his conduct or the existing circumstances. A person acts knowingly, or with knowledge, with respect to a result of his conduct when he is aware that his conduct is reasonably certain to cause the result.

(3) Recklessly, or maliciously, with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he is aware of but continuously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that its disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise under all the circumstances is viewed from the actor's standpoint.

(4) With criminal negligence or is criminally negligent with respect to circumstances surrounding his conduct or the result of his conduct when he ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result

will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

The facts presented to the jury in this case substantially support the elements, not only of the offenses of second degree homicide and manslaughter, but negligent homicide as well. Evidence of Appellant's intention at the time of the shooting was introduced by the victim's statements denying malicious intent (P 62 L5 to L 14); Appellant's testimony (P 55, L 2 to P 57, L 30 P 94 L 10 to line 26, P 97 L 24 to L 29 P 101, L 29 to P 102 L 14) indicates activities and a State of mind which a reasonable jury could have characterized as criminal negligence, as defined by Utah law.

Accordingly, it was error for the Court, with or without the request of counsel, to omit an instruction on negligent homicide. This omission was prejudicial to appellant in that it deprived a jury which was not convinced that appellant killed intentionally and knowingly, that being the element of second degree murder which differs from by exceeding the elements of manslaughter. "Criminal negligence" does not significantly differ from "recklessly" as used in the definition of the offense of manslaughter.

Appellant urges reversal and remand on this point.

II THE COURT'S FAILURE TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL CONSTITUTES REVERSIBLE ERROR

During the course of the trial, counsel for

appellant became apprised of the bias of one of the jurors. He notified the Court of his findings during a meeting with opposing counsel in the judge's chambers, but did not then or later request a mistrial. Defendant asserts that it was incumbent upon the court to declare a mistrial, based upon the information concerning this juror.

The State of Utah law on this point is established by two early cases:

In State v. Mickle, 25 Utah 719, 70 Pac. 2d. 857 (1902) a juror previous to trial made a statement to the effect "I think the defendants are guilty and they ought to be convicted any-way on general principles". This court in that case held that the previously expressed bias of a juror which was not admitted during *voire dire* required reversal of the defendant's conviction for grand larceny and remand for a new trial.

In State v. Morgan, 23, Ut. 212, 64 Pac. 2d. 356 (1901) this court reversed a homicide conviction based upon the pre-judgment of one juror which was with-held during *voire dire* and further stated that in a homicide case, where the verdict must be unanimous, the misconduct of one juror constitutes misconduct of the entire jury, requiring that the defendant be given the benefit of an impartial jury and new trial.

In the case at bar, as in the cases cited above, one of the jurors, Mr. Robert Wingar expressed a strong negative bias toward the defendant prior to trial and then withheld his opinion during the *voire dire*. This information was made available to the Court by counsel for defendant. (p 110 L 13 to P

113 L 23).

Defendant asserts that it was the affirmative duty of the Court to make further inquiry into this matter and to declare a mistrial in this case. Failure to do so should be deemed a reversible error.

III APPELLANT WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION, OF COUNSEL
AS REQUIRED BY THE SIXTH AMENDMENT TO THE CONSTITUTION OF
THE UNITED STATES

The sixth amendment to the United States Constitution provides that each defendant shall have the right to the assistance of counsel in his defense. The Supreme Court and this court have interpreted this phrase to mean the assistance of effective counsel. Anderson v. Turner, 27 Utah 2d. 182, 493 P2d. 1278 (1972).

In this case the defendant was denied effective representation by two grievous errors on the part of his counsel.

The first error is failure to require or otherwise discuss and acquaint the jury with the lesser included offense of negligent homicide...indeed, counsel requested of the jury that they bring in a verdict for the one lesser included offense of manslaughter, while entirely neglecting the possibility of negligent homicide throughout the proceedings.

Secondly, and perhaps most troublesome, is counsel's failure to move for mistrial, even though he was fully aware of the defect in the jury, having himself brought it to the attention of the Court.

Courts have avoided holding that counsel was ineffective, but in case discussing the issue have spoken as follows: In State v. Delaney, 351 Pac. 2d. 85, 221 Or. 620 (1960) on appeal from conviction for assault with intent to commit rape, the court stated that a new trial would be granted if the record reflects a prejudicial lack of attention and diligence on the part of such counsel. Similarly, in State v. Keller, 400 Pac. 2d. 370, 65 Was, 2d. 907, the court, while affirming the conviction, stated the principle that a new trial must be granted when incompetence or neglect of appointed counsel results in violation of constitutional rights by reducing trial to a farce.

While defendant does not assert that his trial in this case was a farce, counsel's failure to note the lessor included offense and especially to act on information concerning impropriety in the jury robbed appellant of effective representation and the right to a fair and impartial trial.

The duty of counsel in a criminal matter, and more particularly in a conviction for homicide, extends to perfection of an appeal, should that be the desire of the defendant. In this case, even though counsel for appellant was well aware of at least one ground for reversal, he failed to perfect an appeal or to contact the appellant concerning this matter after his conviction.

Counsel failure to file a timely appeal denies appellant of his opportunity to correct the errors existing at his trial. This denial of due process has been dealt with by the Supreme Court in Anders v. California, 386 U.S. 738, 18 L. Ed.

2d. 493, 87 S. Ct. 1396 (1967), holding that the constitutional right to counsel requires that on an indigent defendant's first appeal from his conviction, court appointed counsel must support the appeal to the best of his ability, and may withdraw only after filing briefs on behalf of the appellant and then only if the court agrees that the appeal is wholly frivolous. Counsel's failure to perfect an appeal in this case is submitted as further evidence of lack of interest and diligence in this case.

CONCLUSION

Appellant urges this court to reverse his conviction for manslaughter based upon one or more of the errors described herein.

Appellant was severely prejudiced by the trial court's failure to instruct on the lesser included offense of negligent homicide. The elements of negligent homicide were substantially supported by the evidence adduced. Substantial case law supports the proposition that this error requires remand (State v. Dougherty, supra, State v. Mitcheson, supra, State v. Gillian, supra

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