1979

the State of Utah v. Walter Preston Boggess, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO INSTRUCT THE JURY ON NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE BECAUSE NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE IS NOT AN INCLUDED OFFENSE OF MANSLAUGHTER OR SECOND DEGREE MURDER, SUCH AN INSTRUCTION WAS NOT REQUESTED, AND THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF NEGLIGENT HOMICIDE.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-402(3) (1953), as amended, defines lesser included offense as when:

(a) It is established by proof of the same or less than all the facts required to establish the commission of the (greater) offense charged; or

(b) It constitutes an attempt, solicitation, conspiracy, or form of preparation to commit the offense charged or an offense otherwise included therein; or,

(c) It is specifically designated by statute as a lesser included offense.

Negligent homicide is not specifically designated as an included offense of manslaughter, and neither is it any form of attempt or preparation to commit homicide since the ultimate end proscribed by both crimes, the death of the victim, is the same. If negligent homicide is included within the crime of manslaughter, it must be so under subsection (a) of Section 76-1-402(3). Subsection (a) is a codification of preexisting Utah law. As this Court noted in State v. Brennan, 13 Utah 2d 195, 371 P.2d 27 (1962):

The rule as to when one offense is included in another is that the greater offense includes a lesser one when establishment of the greater would necessarily include proof of all of the elements necessary to prove the lesser. Conversely, it is only when the proof of the lesser offense requires some element not involved in the greater offense that the lesser would not be an included offense.

13 Utah 2d at 198.

It is readily apparent that proof of manslaughter or second degree murder does not establish proof of the crime of negligent homicide. In fact, proof of second degree murder or manslaughter disproves any possibility of negligent homicide.

As appellant notes, the major difference in these crimes is the state of mind required to establish each (Appellant's Brief, p. 7). The portion of the second degree murder statute applicable to this case, subsections (a), (b) and (c) of Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-203(1) (1953), as amended, provide:

(1) Criminal homicide constitutes murder in the second degree if the actor:

(a) Intentionally or knowingly causes the death of another; or

(b) Intending to cause serious bodily injury to another, he commits an act clearly dangerous to human life that causes the death of another; or

(c) Acting under circumstances evidencing a depraved indifference to human life, he recklessly engaged in conduct which creates a grave risk of death to another and thereby causes the death of another.

The requisite mental element may be restated as that the actor must either intend to cause death or great harm or that the actor be reckless.

Manslaughter is defined in Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-205 (1953), as amended:

(1) Criminal homicide constitutes manslaughter if the actor:

(a) Recklessly causes the death of another; or

(b) Causes the death of another under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance for which there is a reasonable explanation or excuse;

(c) Causes the death of another under circumstances where the actor reasonably believes the circumstances provide a moral or legal justification or extenuation for his conduct although the conduct is not legally justifiable or excusable under the existing circumstances.

Manslaughter thus requires that the actor recklessly kill, or kill while reasonably disturbed, or with a reasonable though mistaken belief that he is justified. In the latter two instances, the actor intends to cause the death of the victim but kills because of emotional upset or mistake. State v. Norman, 580 P.2d 237, 240 (Utah 1976); LaFave and Scott, Criminal Law, 1972 § 76; and Wharton's Criminal Law and Procedure, 1957, Vol. I § 272.

For either of these two crimes, second degree murder or manslaughter, the actor must know or intend that death will result or he must act recklessly. Recklessness is defined in Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-103(3) (1953), as amended, as when the actor:

. . . is aware of but consciously disregards a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that its disregard constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise under all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

Recklessness requires that the actor be aware of the risk of his actions but that he ignore the risk. To establish second degree murder or manslaughter, then, the state must prove that the actor knew that death would or might result and yet acted anyway.

Negligent homicide, however, is defined in Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-206 (1953), as amended:

(1) Criminal homicide constitutes negligent homicide if the actor, acting with criminal negligence, causes the death of another.

Criminal negligence is when the actor:

. . . ought to be aware of a substantial and unjustifiable risk that the circumstances exist or the result will occur. The risk must be of such a nature and degree that the failure to perceive it constitutes a gross deviation from the standard of care that an ordinary person would exercise in all the circumstances as viewed from the actor's standpoint.

Utah Code Ann. § 76-2-103(4) (1953), as amended (emphasis added).

The use of the terms "ought to be aware" and "failure to perceive" imply that the actor is not in fact aware of the risk caused by his actions.

Clearly, an actor cannot both know of the risk of death or intend death as required for second degree murder or manslaughter, and also not know of the risk, even though he should, as required for negligent homicide. Proof of one mental state inherently disproves the other. It follows,

under Brennan, supra, and Section 76-1-402(3), that negligent homicide is not an included offense of manslaughter.

In State v. Gillian, 23 Utah 2d 372, 463 P.2d 811 (1970), this Court outlined when a court must instruct a jury as to lesser offenses:

One of the foundational principles in regard to the submission of issues to the juries is that where the parties so request they are entitled to have instructions given upon their theory of the case; and this includes on lesser offenses if any reasonable view of the evidence would support such a verdict.

Id. at 812 (emphasis added). See also State v. Mitchell, 3 Utah 2d 70, 278 P.2d 618, 621 (1955).

Initially, it must be noted that appellant made no objection to the instructions as they were given to the jury (T. at 110). As a threshold matter, an appellant may not claim error in failure to instruct on lesser offense unless he requested such instruction, Gillian, supra. In this case, however, even if appellant had requested an instruction on negligent homicide, no reasonable view of the evidence could have supported such a verdict. To have made out negligent homicide, the evidence would have had to have shown that appellant was unaware that pointing a gun towards his wife from point blank range and doing everything

mechanically necessary to fire the gun constituted a risk. Such naiveté in a grown man is unbelievable. Moreover, appellant indicated that he appreciated the danger associated with the weapon. He stated that he should have looked to see if the gun was unloaded, but did not (T. at 56, lines 6-7). He noted that his action was a "Hell of a way to show it's unloaded" (T. at 55 and 103-104). Even though he thought the gun was unloaded, appellant knew it was dangerous to do what he did. No reasonable view of the evidence could lead to the view that he did not. The logical conclusion, then, in light of Gillian, supra, is that the trial court was correct in not instructing the jury on the elements of negligent homicide because (a) the instruction was not requested, and (b) no reasonable view of the evidence could support a jury verdict of negligent homicide.

Appellant argues that even though an instruction on negligent homicide was not requested, it was erroneous for the court to fail to give such an instruction under State v. Dougherty, 550 P.2d 175 (Utah 1976) (Appellant's Brief, pp. 4-5). Dougherty applies to lesser included offenses. As has been shown, infra, negligent homicide is not a lesser included offense of second degree murder or manslaughter. Nevertheless, even if it is assumed, *arguendo*, that negligent homicide was a lesser included

offense, there was no error in the court's failure to instruct on negligent homicide. A legitimate, recognized trial tactic is to avoid instruction on lesser included offenses in hopes of obtaining outright acquittal, State v. Mitchell, supra at 621. Moreover, appellant misreads State v. Dougherty, supra. In that case, this Court considered Lisby v. State, 83 Nev. 133, 414 P.2d 592 (1966), and stated:

The court discussed three situations in which the problem of lesser included offenses are frequently encountered. First, where there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of a greater offense, or degree, but would support a finding of guilt of a lesser offense, or degree; the instruction is mandatory.

Second, where the evidence would not support a finding of guilt in the commission of the lesser offense or degree. For example, the defendant denies any complicity in the crime charged, and thus lays no foundation for any intermediate verdict; or where the elements of the offenses differ, and some element essential to the lesser offense is either not proved or shown not to exist. This second situation renders an instruction on a lesser included offense erroneous, because it is not pertinent.

Third, is an intermediate situation. One where the elements of the greater offense include all the elements of the lesser offense; because, by its very nature, the greater offense could not have been committed without defendant having the intent in doing the acts, which constitute the lesser offense. In such a situation instructions on the lesser included offense may be given because all elements of the lesser offense have been proved. However, such an instruction may properly be refused if the prosecution has met its burden of proof on the greater offense, and

there is no evidence tending to reduce the greater offense. The court concluded by stating that if there be any evidence, however slight, on any reasonable theory of the case under which the defendant might be convicted of a lesser included offense, the court must, if requested, give an appropriate instruction. (Emphasis added.)

As may be seen, the court is required to instruct the jury as to a lesser included offense in the absence of a request to do so only when "there is evidence which would absolve the defendant from guilt of a greater offense or degree, but would support a finding of guilt of a lesser offense." There was no such evidence in this case. On the contrary, the evidence clearly indicated that appellant knew that pointing a gun at his wife and "fanning it" constituted an unreasonable risk. There was no evidence to indicate that appellant did not know that handling a gun in this manner was foolish and dangerous. He may have thought that he could avoid the possible harm, he may have even thought he had taken precautions but he still knew that what he did was a "Hell of a way to show it was not loaded." The inherent danger in the use of firearms plus the ever present possibility that they may not be completely unloaded make the act of pointing a gun at someone and pulling the trigger a substantial and unjustifiable risk even if the actor thinks the bullets have all been removed. There was no evidence to show that appellant did not know of this

risk. The trial court did not err in failing to instruct the jury on negligent homicide absent a request to do so. In fact, even if negligent homicide were a lesser included offense of second degree murder and/or manslaughter, which it is not, and even if appellant had requested an instruction on negligent homicide, which he did not, the trial court would have been correct in not instructing the jury on negligent homicide because the evidence simply would not have supported such a verdict.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO DECLARE A MISTRIAL SINCE APPELLANT NEVER MOVED TO HAVE A MISTRIAL DECLARED; NEVER PRESENTED COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT JUROR BIAS EXISTED; AND THE JURY RETURNED THE LEAST ONEROUS VERDICT POSSIBLE IN LIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Although it is true that bias unrevealed in voir dire in one of the jurors might be grounds for a new trial, State v. Morgan, 23 Utah 212, 64 Pac. 356 (1901), that bias must be clearly established. In State v. Mickle, 25 Utah 70 Pac. 856 (1902), the court held that even though affidavits indicated bias in one of the jurors, there were conflicting affidavits and the verdict was affirmed:

While it is well settled that when, in a criminal case, a juror has, before his selection, made statements . . . (indicating prejudgment and bias) and such statements were unknown to either the accused or his attorney until after the trial, a verdict of guilty

should, on motion of the accused, if made in proper time, be set aside and a new trial granted . . . (citations omitted) it is also an equally well settled rule of law that the verdict of guilty should not be set aside on such grounds except when it is clearly and satisfactorily made to appear on motion for a new trial that the juror, previous to his examination on voir dire, made the prejudicial statements alleged, and the onus of showing that fact is upon the accused.

Id. at 848 (emphasis added).

In a more recent case, this Court has noted:

. . . our major concern in this, as in any case, is with the lawfulness and justice of a conviction; and notwithstanding a showing of minor impropriety or irregularity, there should be no reversal of a conviction unless it appears that a party has been prejudiced in that in the absence of such impropriety there is a reasonable likelihood that the verdict would have been different.

State v. Durand, 569 P.2d 1107, 1109 (Utah 1977).

In the instant matter, a motion for a mistrial was never made. Utah Code Ann. § 77-38-3 (1953), as amended, provides:

When a verdict or decision has been rendered against the defendant the court may, upon his application, grant a new trial. . . . (Emphasis added.)

There was no duty for the trial court to declare a mistrial, sua sponte. Appellant's attorney reserved the right to move for a mistrial following the return of the verdict but never so moved (T. at 112). The only evidence before the court indicating the possibility of juror bias

was some double hearsay submitted by appellant's attorney (T. at 111). No affidavits were ever submitted, nor was any testimony heard. One could hardly say that appellant had met his burden of establishing bias.

Even if the bias is admitted, however, appellant was not harmed by it. Whether appellant had actually killed his wife was not at issue. Virtually all of appellant's actions were established or substantiated by his own testimony. Given the nature of the act (see Point I, infra), the only question for the jury was whether appellant had the mental state required for second degree murder or manslaughter. The unanimous jury verdict was that he had only acted recklessly, not intentionally. If the bias was present, it was overcome since the verdict of guilty of manslaughter was the least onerous verdict the jury could reasonably have arrived at.

Appellant never sought a mistrial nor presented competent evidence concerning juror bias. The lightest possible verdict was returned by the jury. There was no error in the court's failure to declare a mistrial on its own motion.

POINT III

APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

This Court has enunciated in Alires v. Turner,

Utah 2d 118, 449 P.2d 241 (1969), the test to be utilized whenever the question of ineffective counsel is raised. In Alires, supra, the Court first stated that ". . . we do not reverse for mere error or irregularity, but only where it is substantial and prejudicial." Id. at 120.

The Court then stated that the right of an accused to counsel is included in the concept of due process of law, embodied as it is in the United States and Utah Constitutions. The requirement of counsel, said the Court:

. . . is not satisfied by a sham or pretense of an appearance in the record by an attorney who manifests no real concern about the interests of the accused.

Id. at 121.

Immediately following the above quoted sentence, the Court turns its attention to the standard required by due process to be applied to appointed counsel:

The entitlement is to the assistance of a competent member of the Bar, who shows a willingness to identify himself with the interests of the defendant and present such defenses as are available to him under the law and consistent with the ethics of the profession.

Id. at 121.

This standard has been consistently reaffirmed.

See Johnson v. Turner, 24 Utah 2d 439, 473 P.2d 901 (1970);

Kryger v. Turner, 25 Utah 2d 214, 479 P.2d 480 (1971);
State v. McNicol, 554 P.2d 203 (Utah 1976).

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